THE CHAPEL ON CHELWOOD COMMON
by Hylda Rawlings
Victorian readers of The Sussex Express newspaper dated 1st of June 1895 would find on page 9 the following item:‑
"A Church Room for Chelwood Common

It has been in contemplation for a long time, prior indeed, to the building of the new church, [All Saints, Danehill], to make a provision for those Church people who, living at a distance, find a difficulty in attending, save occasionally, the services of the parish church. The Vicar,(1) being single handed in his work and having but little spare time on Sunday away from his duties in Danehill, could not see his way to a regular Sunday service on the Common, nor was there any building suitable for that purpose.

Mr Edward Baker of Chelwood Common, has kindly placed at the Vicar's disposal a disused carpenter’s work-shed and an arrangement has been gladly made in response to the representations of many - who are desirous of having the services and ministrations of the Church of England brought nearer to them. There will be an afternoon service at 3.30 pm except on the last Sunday of the month on which day there are baptisms and a mothers' guild service at the parish church. For that day we trust the Vicar will meet with an offer of help either for the morning or evening service.

The parishioners are well aware that the income for the Vicarage from church sources is too small to admit of payment therefrom for a curate. The services at the beautiful Memorial Church are well attended and appreciated and there are an increased number of communicants."

Mr Edward Baker lived at “Holly House”, Beaconsfield Road and the carpenter's work shed adjoined his house. The shed was used as a church room with an afternoon service on Sunday for two years. In 1897 a Mission Church Room, with an adjoining reading and recreation room, (the nucleus of the present chapel and village hall ), was erected on its present site on the other side of the road (directly opposite to the carpenter's shed). The generous donors of the new Mission Room and Reading Room were Mr Edward Wormold and his wife Annette of “Chelwood Beacon”, “The Beacons” now apartments, previously a Residential Nursing Home). The dedication stone records that the chapel commemorated Edward and Annette's Silver Wedding and Queen Victoria's Diamond Jubilee.

As well as Mission Halls, Reading Rooms were increasingly being provided by benevolent gentry in a great many towns and villages. Local cottages were small and, for the most part, overcrowded and overflowing with couples, their numerous children and adult dependents. Men, tired after a days hard manual labour, would escape to the pub and there spend too high a portion of their meagre wages on drink, in consequence of which they and their families were further impoverished. Young single men, living at home or lodging in one of these cottages would have no room of their own for reading or study.

To go to the Reading Room which had seating accommodation, tables, heating and also provided free newspapers and books of “improving literature” became a practical and effectual alternative to an evening spent in the pub. The doctrines of self‑help and temperance were being widely advocated by members of the gentry - most ardently by the ladies.

Horsted Keynes is notable that the Misses Rodwell, having failed to attract enough young men to join their Temperance Club, changed it to “A Moderate Drinkers Club” (2)
In January 1907, Sir Clarke Jervoise, who had succeeded the Wormold's at Chelwood Beacon instructed Messrs Isaac Waters & Sons, builders of Forest Row, to draw up plans to build a Chancel Arch, Sanctuary and Vestry on to the east end of the Mission Room. Uckfield Rural District Council approved the plans and so the little Mission Church was enlarged and beautified. (3)
Chelwood Gate residents loved and were proud of their simple, welcoming little church and through the years it received additional gifts. On the February 1st 1914 there was Candlemas at 3 pm. Two large brass candlesticks, subscribed and given in memory of the Rev. J. G. Norton, Curate of Danehill, who had taken most of the services at Chelwood Gate, were used for the first time.

On All Saints Day, the 1 st November 1914 there was a dedication of Chancel Lamps given in memory of Marion Bishop Summers.

A hymn number board with brass plaque to Llyal Marcus Neale killed on the 21st of December 1917 and a brass plate commemorating Gilbert Deacon, killed the 1st April 1918. Two local men who fell in the Great War.

Later a framed bronze relief of “The Last Supper” was given by Mrs Beachcroft of “The Sun House”, in memory of her husband Major Maurice Beachcroft. He had bought the relief when he was at Oxford. Although he was not a regular worshipper at the little chapel he enjoyed occasionally to read the lesson there.

The earliest Service, or Preacher Book(4) as it was then called, to survive begins in 1912 when The Rev. Summers was Vicar and The Rev. Norton was Curate. It mostly records routine matters, date, year, time of service, name of the priest or preacher, text or subject of the sermon, records of baptisms, churching of women, confirmation classes and occasional comments.

The 5th Sunday in Lent 1913 has the comment, “A large congregation twenty two present, collection 2s 5d.”

March 1913. On Friday died in Brighton Hospital The Rev. J. G. Norton, Curate of Danehill for eleven years.

August 23rd 1914, 3 pm service. Intercession War!, G[rea]t European Offertory for Service Wounded. 12 shillings collected.

April 15th 1917, 8 am. There were five people present but owing to the Celebrant having lost his way H.C. was celebrated at 3 pm. A.C.Cragg.

October 14th 1917, 3 pm. Died this morning W.Summers, Vicar.

November 10th 1918, 3 pm. News of abdication of the German Emperor.

November 17th 1918, 3 pm. Thanksgiving for the End of War. 10s 5d collected “For the Blind”.

After 1918 there are very few general remarks and only the objects of special collections entered. Twice it is noted that the priest was the only one to arrive for the 8 am service,

1933, The 3rd  Sunday after Trinity, 7 pm. A Toc H Rally, Culbert Williams celebrated Holy Communion. Congregation numbered 49, £1.0.7d collected.

21st January 1936, 6.30 Evening Prayer. Death of King George V.

26th August 1936, 3 pm. Preacher Charles Stepney, Bradfield College Mission, Boys Club, Camberwell. Members of the Lion Club Hoxted (King's College London). Noted under remarks “117 Boys & 20 adults seated in the Church”. If this took place in the Mission Church this was a miracle! Did they perhaps hold the service at the Isle of Thorns? This was then a holiday camp

for boys.

This Preachers Book finishes with an entry for the 3rd Sunday after Trinity 1939, Evening Prayer 6 pm. The number of the congregation was not given, 8s 11 d is collected.

Residents in the parish of Danehill are very fortunate for they have two beautiful churches. All Saints Church on Danehill imposing and strong. The interior crammed with treasures. Fine stained glass windows, a magnificent organ, (given by Mr Wormold), solid oak pews., the rather dark interior brought to life by the gold and bright colours of the reredos; truly an outstanding Victorian church.

In complete contrast there is the little church at Chelwood Gate. Light wood chairs not pews, a simple altar, clear glass in the windows.

When you see the trees through the lancet windows behind the altar making patterns against the light, you realise the beauty in the simplicity of this tiny church.

Both churches have now reached their centenaries, they are still loved and well looked after. The Victorians who gave them to us would, 1 feel, be well pleased to see them looking so cared for.

My thanks are due to my husband., Mr P.G.Lucas; Mrs J. .Greatrex and Mrs G.Y Rolfe for the information they have given me.
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